

1-3-2010

Four country healthcare-associated infection prevalence survey: pneumonia and lower respiratory tract infections.

Hilary Humphreys
Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland

R G. Newcombe
Cardiff University

J Enstone
University of Nottingham

E TM Smyth
Northern Ireland Healthcare Associated Infection Surveillance Centre

G McIlvenny
Northern Ireland Healthcare Associated Infection Surveillance Centre

See next page for additional authors

Citation

Humphreys H, Newcombe RG, Enstone J, Smyth ET, McIlvenny G, Davies E, Spencer R. Four country healthcare-associated infection prevalence survey: pneumonia and lower respiratory tract infections. *Journal of Hospital Infection*. 2010;74(3):266-270.

This Article is brought to you for free and open access by the Department of Clinical Microbiology at e-publications@RCSI. It has been accepted for inclusion in Clinical Microbiology Articles by an authorized administrator of e-publications@RCSI. For more information, please contact epubs@rcsi.ie.

Authors

Hilary Humphreys, R G. Newcombe, J Enstone, E TM Smyth, G McIlvenny, E Davies, and R Spencer

Attribution-Non-Commercial-ShareAlike 1.0

You are free:

- to copy, distribute, display, and perform the work.
- to make derivative works.

Under the following conditions:

- Attribution — You must give the original author credit.
- Non-Commercial — You may not use this work for commercial purposes.
- Share Alike — If you alter, transform, or build upon this work, you may distribute the resulting work only under a licence identical to this one.

For any reuse or distribution, you must make clear to others the licence terms of this work. Any of these conditions can be waived if you get permission from the author.

Your fair use and other rights are in no way affected by the above.

This work is licenced under the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-ShareAlike License. To view a copy of this licence, visit:

URL (human-readable summary):

- <http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/1.0/>

URL (legal code):

- <http://creativecommons.org/worldwide/uk/translated-license>
-

Four country healthcare-associated infection prevalence survey: pneumonia and lower respiratory tract infections

Humphreys H,^{1,2} Newcombe RG,³ Enstone J,⁴ Smyth ETM,⁵ McIlvenny G,⁵ Davies E,⁶ Spencer R,⁷ on behalf of the Hospital Infection Society Steering Group

Deleted: ,

Deleted: ,

Deleted: ,

Deleted: ,

Deleted: ,

Deleted: ,

¹Department of Clinical Microbiology, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, ²Department of Microbiology, Beaumont Hospital, Dublin, Ireland, ³Centre for Health Sciences Research, Cardiff University, Cardiff, UK, ⁴Influenza and Transmission Studies, University of Nottingham, UK ⁵Northern Ireland Healthcare Associated Infection Surveillance Centre, Belfast, UK, ⁶National Public Health Service, Cardiff, UK, ⁷Hospital Infection Society, London, UK.

Author for correspondence; Professor Hilary Humphreys
Department of Clinical Microbiology
RCSI Education and Research Centre
Beaumont Hospital
PO Box 9063
Dublin 9, IRELAND

Telephone +3531 8093708/3710

Facsimile +353 8093709

Email hhumphreys@rcsi.ie

Declaration *The study was funded by the respective health agencies of the participating countries, i.e. Department of Health, England, Welsh Healthcare Associated Infection Programme, the Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety, Northern Ireland and The Health Service Executive, the Republic of Ireland. None of the authors are in receipt of funding for personal or professional use from commercial sources that have an interest in the issues raised in this report.*

Key words: healthcare-associated infection, pneumonia, lower respiratory tract infection, meticillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA), *Clostridium difficile*.

Running title Prevalence of healthcare-associated pneumonia

Abstract

In 2006, the Hospital Infection Society was funded by the respective health services in England, Wales, Northern Ireland and the Republic of Ireland to conduct a prevalence survey of healthcare-associated infection (HCAI). Here, we report the prevalence of pneumonia and lower respiratory tract infection other than pneumonia (LRTIOP) in these four countries. The prevalence of all HCAs was 7.59% (5,743 / 75,694). Nine hundred (15.7%) of these infections were pneumonia, and 402 (7.0%) were LRTIOP. The prevalence of both infections was higher for males than for females, and increased threefold from the under 35s to the over 85s ($p < 0.001$). At the time of the survey or in the preceding seven days, 23.7% and 18.2% of patients with pneumonia and LRTIOP, respectively, were mechanically ventilated compared to 5.2% of patients in the whole study population. Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) was the cause of pneumonia and LRTIOP in 7.6% and 18.1% of patients, respectively ($p < 0.001$). More patients with LRTIOP (4.2%) had concurrent diarrhoea due to *Clostridium difficile* compared to patients with pneumonia (2.4%), but this failed to reach statistical significance ($p = 0.08$). Other healthcare-associated infections were present in 137 (15.2%) of patients with pneumonia and 66 (16.4%) of those with LRTIOP. The results suggest that reducing instrumentation, such as mechanical ventilation where possible, should help reduce infection. The higher prevalence of MRSA as a cause of LRTIOP suggests a lack of specificity in identifying the microbial cause and the association with *Clostridium difficile* emphasises the need for better use of antibiotics.

Deleted: .

Introduction

Prevalence surveys of healthcare-associated infection (HCAI) are conducted in many countries to determine the proportion of patients that have an infection, and to identify those areas that require prioritisation for prevention and control. In Finland, a national prevalence survey carried out in 2005 and involving 30 hospitals found an overall prevalence of HCAI of 8.5%.¹ In the UK and Ireland, over 75,000 patients were surveyed in 2006 in one of the largest surveys of its kind. The overall prevalence of HCAI was 7.59%.^{2,3} The most common HCAI involved the gastro-intestinal tract but pneumonia was the third most common infection recorded.²

Although pneumonia and other lower respiratory tract infections are particularly prevalent in patients in intensive care units (ICUs) because of the strong association with mechanical ventilation, lower respiratory tract infections account for a substantial proportion of the overall burden of HCAI.⁴ Extrinsic risk factors for lower respiratory tract infection include endotracheal intubation, mechanical ventilation and micro-aspiration of the oropharynx and intrinsic factors which relate to the individual patient include their underlying disease, the presence of immunosuppression, etc.⁴

Deleted: i

Here, we outline the results from the Hospital Infection Society (HIS) Prevalence survey of HCAI as they relate to pneumonia and lower respiratory tract infection other than pneumonia (LRTIOP), conducted in the UK (excluding Scotland which used different methodologies) and the Republic of Ireland in 2006, and discuss how the results might indicate the priorities for future preventative strategies.

Materials and Methods

All publicly funded acute hospitals with adult in-patients were eligible to participate in the HIS study in 2006. Paediatric hospitals, mental health trusts, military hospitals, non-acute hospitals and private hospitals were excluded, except in the Republic of Ireland where some private hospitals participated.

The Centre for Disease Control (CDC) and Prevention definition of HCAI was used, i.e. a localised or systemic condition resulting from an adverse reaction to the presence of an infectious agent or reagent or its toxins and that was not present or incubating at the time of admission to the participating hospital. It also had to meet the CDC criteria for specific infections, which are widely used for surveillance purposes.⁵

The data were collected between mid-February and the end of May 2006 using standardised data forms. Data were collected for all active healthcare associated system infections recording whether the infection was device- or procedure-related, if MRSA was the causative organism and whether the patient developed a secondary bloodstream infection. Additional information was requested for primary bloodstream infection, pneumonia, surgical site infection and urinary tract infection. For pneumonia, the infection was categorised as either clinically defined pneumonia, pneumonia with specific laboratory findings, or pneumonia in immunocompromised patients, with algorithms provided to guide the categorisation. LRTIOP includes bronchitis, tracheobronchitis, bronchiolitis, tracheitis, without evidence of pneumonia and lung abscess and empyema.⁵ The relationship between risk factors or any variables associated with infection are summarised by odds ratios with 95%

Deleted: For example for urinary tract infection, additional questions queried whether the infection was catheter related and whether the infection was symptomatic; for surgical site infections the type of procedure was recorded and whether the infection was superficial, deep or organ/space was noted.

Deleted:

confidence intervals calculated by the score method.⁶ For the variation between age groups, one degree of freedom for linear trend is reported.

Results

The overall prevalence of HCAI was 7.59% (5,743/75,694). Full details of the overall results and risk factors for all HCAs can be found elsewhere.^{2,3} Nine hundred (15.7%) of these infections were classed as pneumonias, of which 719 (79.9%) were clinically defined pneumonia; 165 (18.3%) were ventilator-associated pneumonia (VAP); 121 (13.4%) were pneumonia with specific laboratory findings and 30 (3.3%) were in immunocompromised patients. Of all HCAI 402 (7.0%) of the infections were classed as LRTIOP. The prevalence of both infections increased substantially with age, threefold from the under 35s to the over 85s (Table 1; $p < 0.001$) and was higher for males than for females, especially for pneumonia (1.53% vs. 0.92%, $p < 0.001$), but also for LRTIOP (0.62% vs 0.46%, $p = 0.003$).

Mechanical ventilation was used either currently or in the preceding seven days in 23.7% of patients with pneumonia and in 18.2% of patients with LRTIOP, compared to 5.2% of patients in the whole study population (Table 2). The increased risk related much more strongly to current than recent use.

Meticillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) was the cause in 18.1% of LRTIOPs compared to 7.6% of pneumonias, $p < 0.001$ (Table 3). These figures exclude 47 and 16 patients with pneumonia and LRTIOP respectively where the question was either not answered or where susceptibility testing results were not available. Rather more patients with LRTIOP (4.2%) had concurrent diarrhoea due to *Clostridium difficile*, compared to patients with pneumonia (2.4%), $p = 0.08$. There were other concomitant infections such as surgical site infection, primary bloodstream

infection etc. in 137 (15.2%) of the patients with pneumonia and 66 (16.4%) of patients with LRTIOP.

Discussion

This survey, ~~has confirmed the burden of lower respiratory tract infection in patients~~ with healthcare-associated infection. The limitations of the data reported here include the narrow dataset used; however the focussed dataset was designed to facilitate the participation of as large a number of centres and ~~the~~ inclusion of as many patients as possible, hence the success in recruiting over 75,000 patients. The absence of any data relating to intrinsic risk factors, (apart from age and sex), such as medications, underlying lung disease, other chronic illnesses, etc, means that it is difficult to identify clearly from this survey, all those categories of patients at greatest risk. Other limitations include the seasonal implications of conducting a prevalence study over a relatively prolonged period of time i.e. February to May 2006. Some variations in the data collection between the various health systems in England, Wales, Northern Ireland and the Republic of Ireland may have occurred but all used the same data set and unmodified CDC definitions.

Deleted: one of the largest national prevalence surveys ever carried out,

The CDC definitions have been widely employed for surveillance purposes.⁵ Following this prevalence survey an evaluation was carried out in England and Northern Ireland and participants found the pneumonia definitions the most difficult to apply of all the definitions. In particular a number of hospitals commented that the requirement for at least one chest x-ray to complete the pneumonia diagnosis meant that some infections, judged clinically to be pneumonia, could not be categorised as such because x-rays are not necessarily routinely obtained in the management of such patients. In Wales the prevalence of pneumonia was lower (0.68%) than in the other countries (0.86-1.29%)², and this was also thought to be due to the difficulty in accessing chest x-ray results to complete the diagnosis in some hospitals.⁷

Much of the data on pneumonia published elsewhere focusses on the ventilated patient in the intensive care unit, where *S. aureus* is a common and important cause.⁸⁻
¹¹ but there is relatively little data on patients outside critical care units. In our study, MRSA was more common in LRTIOP, not commonly described in ventilated patients compared with pneumonia, and as LRTIOP includes empyema, it is often a more prolonged illness and this impacts on prevalence.

In recent UK guidelines on the management of hospital-acquired pneumonia, avoidance of endotracheal aspirations, and quantifying the number of pathogens on culture with the presence of intracellular pathogens as predictors of infection were the only guidelines with a strong evidence base.¹² A recent Cochrane review found no evidence that the use of quantitative cultures of respiratory secretions results in reduced mortality, reduced periods of ventilation or better antibiotic use, compared with non-quantitative cultures.¹³

Measures to prevent VAP are well described although the evidence-base is sub-optimal. The use of sucralfate as stress ulcer prophylaxis, the use of oscillating beds, and selective digestive tract decontamination have a scientific base.¹⁶ Developing care protocols for weaning and sedation, sucralfate for stress ulcer prophylaxis, physiotherapy, respiratory therapists and keeping patients in the semi-recumbent position (30-45°C), had the strongest evidence base in recent UK guidelines.¹²

Deleted: In a prospective study in Spain, the incidence of hospital-acquired pneumonia was three cases/1,000 hospital admissions and an aetiological agent was obtained in 36.4% of cases.⁸ When comparing the outcomes from two different treatments in 544 patients with VAP, *S. aureus* was the most commonly identified pathogen, recovered in 221 patients, including 91 with MRSA.⁹ In a retrospective analysis of pooled patient data from multiple clinical trials in France, patients with MRSA VAP were significantly older than those with meticillin-susceptible *S. aureus* who had a median duration of mechanical ventilation of eight days, compared with 13 days for patients with MRSA.¹⁰ In a study by Shorr and colleagues, patients with MRSA had a longer stay in the ICU and their treatment was associated with considerable higher costs (US \$7,7... [1]

Deleted: as a cause

Deleted: than pneumonia perhaps

Deleted: because

Deleted: ,

Deleted: ing

Deleted: There is increasing attention on quality measures of health deli... [2]

Deleted: on the management of hospital-acquired pneumonia,

Deleted: and

Deleted: t

Deleted: ⁴

Deleted: identified

Deleted: when

Deleted: , and the same applies irrespective of whether invasive of... [3]

Deleted: ⁵

Deleted: Therefore although there is confusion about the approach to th... [4]

Deleted: re is an scientific evidence for the

Deleted: (SDD)

Deleted: , even if there is concern about the emergence of antibiotic resista... [5]

Deleted: Standard precautions including hand hygiene and good... [6]

Deleted: the use of but not the routine changing of heat moisture exchang... [7]

Deleted: the importance of

Deleted: and

Deleted: ,

Deleted: and managing

Deleted: guidelines in the

Deleted: ⁴

Deleted: Although antibiotic-associated diarrhoea due to *C. difficile* was fi... [8]

A higher proportion of infections were recorded as being due to MRSA in patients with LRTIOP (18.1%) compared with pneumonia (7.6%), and *C. difficile* was also more common in the LRTIOP group. This may suggest poor specificity in the diagnosis of LRTIOP, i.e. MRSA from respiratory samples representing colonisation only and not true infection. The consequent overuse of antibiotics to treat patients with suspected LRTIOP contributes to *C. difficile*, being more common than in patients with pneumonia.

Deleted: It is of note that in this study, a

Deleted: e,

Deleted: and not true infection.

Deleted: T

Deleted: resulting in

Deleted: may explain why *C. difficile* was less common

Deleted: a..

There is increasing attention on quality measures of health delivery as they pertain to HCAI, and VAP rates have been suggested as one such measure.¹⁵ However, Klompas and Platt have recently argued against VAP as a quality measure for benchmarking and for public reporting, as the clinical, laboratory and radiological diagnosis is inaccurate and the CDC definitions were developed for epidemiological surveillance, but not necessarily for inter-institutional comparisons.¹⁶ Nonetheless, the 2006 HIS Prevalence Survey has confirmed the important contribution that lower respiratory tract infections make to the overall prevalence of HCAI.

Deleted: T

Deleted: of healthcare-associated infection in the UK and Ireland

Standard infection prevention and control precautions together with other measures, e.g. avoiding mechanical ventilation or reducing its duration where possible, sucralfate for stress ulcer prophylaxis, and the management of patients in the semi-recumbent position, are all measures that will contribute to reducing its prevalence. Other interventions such as the more accurate diagnosis of LRTIOP and improved antibiotic stewardship will contribute to reducing MRSA and *C. difficile*.

Deleted: and oscillating beds

Deleted: the development of care protocols for weaning and sedation, and the possible use of SDD

Deleted: These together with o

Deleted: better

Deleted: the prevalence of lower respiratory tract infections due to

Deleted: the the current epidemic of

Acknowledgements

This survey would not have been completed successfully and within schedule without the cooperation and support of the co-ordinators, microbiologists, infection prevention and control teams and other staff within the participating hospitals. We would like to acknowledge the assistance given by members of the Hospital Infection Society and the Infection Prevention Society (formerly the Infection Control Nurses Association) who helped with the training of the participants. We would also acknowledge the assistance and support of the members of Welsh Healthcare-Associated Infection Programme, Northern Ireland Healthcare Associated Infection Surveillance Centre (Belfast) and the Health Protection Surveillance Centre (Dublin) who contributed to the success of the prevalence survey. In addition, we would like to thank the other members of the HIS Healthcare-Associated Infection Prevalence Survey Steering Group: Dr Robert Cunney, Professor Brian Duerden, Dr Adam Fraise, Ms. Carole Fry, Dr Marjory Greig, Dr Tony Howard, Mr Martin Kiernan, Ms Christine Perry, Dr Jacqui Reilly, Dr Judith Richards, Dr Geoff Ridgway, and Dr Mike Simmons.

This work has been supported by grants from the Department of Health, England, the Department of Health Social Services & Public Safety, Northern Ireland, the Welsh Assembly Government, Wales and the Health Service Executive, Republic of Ireland.

References

1. Lyytikäinen O, Kanerva M, Agthe N, Möttönen T, Ruutu P. Healthcare-associated infections in Finnish acute care hospitals: a national prevalence survey, 2005. *J Hosp Infect* 2008; **69**: 288-94.
2. Smyth ETM, McIlvenny G, Enstone JE, *et al.* Four country healthcare associated infection prevalence survey 2006: overview of the results. *J Hosp Infect* 2008; **69**: 230-248.
3. Humphreys H, Newcombe RG, Enstone J, *et al.* Four country healthcare associated infection prevalence survey 2006: risk factor analysis. *J Hosp Infect* 2008; **69**: 249-257.
4. Vincent J-L. Nosocomial infections in adult intensive-care units. *Lancet* 2003; **361**: 2068-77.
5. Horan TC, Gaynes RP. Surveillance of nosocomial infections. In: Mayhall CG, Editor. *Hospital Epidemiology and Infection Control*. 3rd edition. Philadelphia: Lipincott Williams and Wilkins; 2004. p. 1659-1702.
6. Miettinen OS, Nurminen M. Comparative analysis of two rates. *Stat Med* 1985; **4**: 213-226.
7. Smyth ETM, McIlvenny G, Enstone J, *et al.* Pitfalls in the comparison of intercountry prevalence of HCAI (response). *J Hosp Infect* 2009; **71**: 279-280.
8. Sopena N, Sabrià M. Multicenter study of hospital-acquired pneumonia in non-ICU patients. *Chest* 2005; **127**: 213-219.
9. Kollef MH, Rello J, Cammarata SK, Croos-Dabrera RV, Wunderink RG. Clinical cure and survival in Gram-positive ventilator-associated pneumonia: retrospective analysis of two double-blind studies comparing linezolid with vancomycin. *Intensive Care Med* 2004; **30**: 388-394.

10. Shorr AF, Combes A, Kollef MH, Chastre J. Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* prolongs intensive care unit stay in ventilator-associated pneumonia, despite initially appropriate antibiotic therapy. *Crit Care Med* 2006; **34**: 700-706.
11. Shorr AF, Tabak YP, Gupta V, Johannes RS, Liu LZ, Kollef MH. Morbidity and cost burden of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in early onset ventilator-associated pneumonia. *Crit Care* 2006; **10**: R97.
12. Masterson RG, Galloway A, French G, et al. Guidelines for the management of hospital-acquired pneumonia in the UK: Report of the Working Party on Hospital-Acquired Pneumonia of the British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2008; **62**: 5-34.
13. Berton DC, Kalil AC, Cavalcanti M, Teixeira PJZ. Quantitative versus qualitative cultures of respiratory secretions for clinical outcomes in patients with ventilator-associated pneumonia. *Cochrane Data Syst Rev* 2008, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD006482. DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD006482.pub2.
14. Collard HR, Saint S, Matthay MA. Prevention of ventilator-associated pneumonia: An evidence-based systematic review. *Ann Intern Med* 2003; **138**: 494-501.
15. Humphreys H, Cunney R. Performance indicators and the public reporting of healthcare-associated infection rates. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2008; **14**: 892-894.
16. Klompas M, Platt R. Ventilator-associated pneumonia – The wrong quality measure for benchmarking. *Ann Intern Med* 2007; **147**: 803-805.
17. Bartlett JG. Narrative review: The new epidemic of *Clostridium difficile* – associated enteric disease. *Ann Intern Med* 2006; **145**: 758-764.
18. Kuijper EJ, Coignard B, Tüll P. Emergence of *Clostridium difficile*-associated disease in North America and Europe. *Clin Micro Inf* 2006; **12** (Suppl 6): 2-18.

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Deleted: <#>Masterson RG, Galloway A, French G, et al. Guidelines for the management of hospital-acquired pneumonia in the UK; Report of the Working Party on Hospital-Acquired Pneumonia of the British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2008; **62**: 5-34.¶ <#>Berton DC, Kalil AC, Cavalcanti M, Teixeira PJZ. Quantitative versus qualitative cultures of respiratory secretions for clinical outcomes in patients with ventilator-associated pneumonia. *Cochrane Data Syst Rev* 2008, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD006482. DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD006482.pub2.¶ <#>Collard HR, Saint S, Matthay MA. Prevention of ventilator-associated pneumonia: An evidence-based systematic review. *Ann Intern Med* 2003; **138**: 494-501.¶

In a prospective study in Spain, the incidence of hospital-acquired pneumonia was three cases/1,000 hospital admissions and an aetiological agent was obtained in 36.4% of cases.⁸ When comparing the outcomes from two different treatments in 544 patients with VAP, *S. aureus* was the most commonly identified pathogen, recovered in 221 patients, including 91 with MRSA.⁹ In a retrospective analysis of pooled patient data from multiple clinical trials in France, patients with MRSA VAP were significantly older than those with meticillin-susceptible *S. aureus* who had a median duration of mechanical ventilation of eight days, compared with 13 days for patients with MRSA.¹⁰ In a study by Shorr and colleagues, patients with MRSA had a longer stay in the ICU and their treatment was associated with considerable higher costs (US \$7,731) per patient.¹¹

There is increasing attention on quality measures of health delivery as they pertain to HCAI, and VAP rates have been suggested as one such measure.¹² However, Klompas and Platt have recently argued against VAP as a quality measure for benchmarking and for public reporting, as the clinical, laboratory and radiological diagnosis is inaccurate and the CDC definitions were developed for epidemiological surveillance, but not necessarily for inter-institutional comparisons.¹³

, and the same applies irrespective of whether invasive or non-invasive sampling is carried out.

Therefore although there is confusion about the approach to the accurate diagnosis of pneumonia, especially in ventilated patients, the CDC definitions are used internationally

for surveillance purposes whatever their shortcomings in the management of the individual patient.

Page 9: [5] Deleted

HHumphreys

9/22/2009 3:56:00 PM

, even if there is concern about the emergence of antibiotic resistance with this approach

Page 9: [6] Deleted

HHumphreys

9/22/2009 3:56:00 PM

Standard precautions including hand hygiene and good professional practice are also essential. Clearly, avoiding instrumentation, e.g. intubation or tracheostomy, where clinically possible and reducing as much as possible the duration of ventilation, will also contribute to reducing VAP rates.

Page 9: [7] Deleted

HHumphreys

9/22/2009 3:56:00 PM

the use of but not the routine changing of heat moisture exchangers, non-invasive ventilation where possible,

Page 9: [8] Deleted

HHumphreys

9/22/2009 3:59:00 PM

Although antibiotic-associated diarrhoea due to *C. difficile* was first described in 1978, the emergence of new strains, particularly ribotype 027 which is associated with increased transmissibility and virulence, has focussed greater efforts on prevention and control.¹⁷ The association between *C. difficile* ribotype 027 and the use of fluoroquinolones has led to the banning of all such agents in some hospitals together with limitations on the use of cephalosporins and clindamycin.¹⁸